Washington, DC 20375-5320



NRL/6730/MR—2023/1

Final Report the Physics of High Efficiency Argon Fluoride Lasers

DR. MATTHEW F. WOLFORD MATTHEW C. MYERS

Laser Plasma Branch Plasma Physics Division

TZVETELINA PETROVA

Radiation Hydrodynamics Branch Plasm Physics Division

February 24, 2023

DISTRIBUTION STATEMENT A: Approved for public release; distribution is unlimited.

REPORT DOCUMENTATION PAGE

Form Approved

					OMB No. 0704-0188		
Public reporting burden for this collection of information is estimated to average 1 hour per response, including the time for reviewing instructions, searching existing data sources, gathering and maintaining the data needed, and completing and reviewing this collection of information. Send comments regarding this burden estimate or any other aspect of this collection of information, including suggestions for reducing this burden to Department of Defense, Washington Headquarters Services, Directorate for Information Operations and Reports (0704-0188), 1215 Jefferson Davis Highway, Suite 1204, Arlington, VA 22202-4302. Respondents should be aware that notwithstanding any other provision of law, no person shall be subject to any penalty for failing to comply with a collection of information of information of the penalty services.							
1. REPORT DATE (124-02-2023	DD-MM-YYYY)	2. REPORT TYPE NRL Memorand	lum Report	3. D	ATES COVERED (From - To) 10/01/2017 - 09/30/2022		
4. TITLE AND SUBTITLE					CONTRACT NUMBER		
Final Report the Physics of High Efficiency Argon Fluoride Lasers					GRANT NUMBER		
				5c.	PROGRAM ELEMENT NUMBER 61153N		
6. AUTHOR(S)					PROJECT NUMBER		
Dr. Matthew F. Wolford, Matthew C. Myers, and Tzvetlina B. Petrova					TASK NUMBER		
					NORK UNIT NUMBER 1J48		
7. PERFORMING ORGANIZATION NAME(S) AND ADDRESS(ES)					ERFORMING ORGANIZATION REPORT UMBER		
Naval Research Laboratory 4555 Overlook Avenue, SW Washington, DC 20375-5320					NRL/6730/MR2023/1		
9. SPONSORING / I	MONITORING AGEN	CY NAME(S) AND AE	DDRESS(ES)	10.3	SPONSOR / MONITOR'S ACRONYM(S)		
Naval Research Laboratory Advanced Research Projects Agency-Energy				lergy			
4555 Overlook Ave, SWU.S. Department of EnergyWashington, DC 20375-53201000 Independence Ave. SWWashington, DC 20585		11. 5	SPONSOR / MONITOR'S REPORT NUMBER(S)				
12. DISTRIBUTION / AVAILABILITY STATEMENT DISTRIBUTION STATEMENT A: Approved for public release; distribution is unlimited.							
13. SUPPLEMENTARY NOTES							
14. ABSTRACT							
The primary objective of the research conducted is to study the physics of an electron beam pumped argon fluoride (ArF) laser. Generating sufficient laser energy from excimer laser gas medium for potential inertial confinement fusion (ICF) and directed energy applications will require large laser cavities that will need to be pumped by electron beams, rather than by electrical discharges. ArF has a shorter wavelength (193 nm) and higher photon energy than KrF and could enable unique applications. NRL enhanced world leading technology in electron beam pumped high energy excimer lasers with the development of short ArF ultraviolet wavelength which continues to show prospective benefits to research in inertial fusion, mitigating laser plasma instabilities, and as a diagnostic tool. The high quality science discovered in this effort has enabled technology development for the most energetic argon fluoride laser at 200 J with near prospects of generating significant more yield. The physics of greatest consequence include measurements of the small signal gain and saturation intensity with accompanying ArF laser kinetics over a significant pressure and composition range. These and other findings from this program have been documented work in 27 various publications/ communications of record including five refereed journal articles, one patent publication/application and two memorandum reports.							
15. SUBJECT TERMS							
Argon fluoride laserElectron beam pumpedPulse powerLaser gainIntrinsic efficiencyAmplified spontaneous emissionExcimer laser							
16. SECURITY CLA	SSIFICATION OF:		17. LIMITATION	18. NUMBER	19a. NAME OF RESPONSIBLE PERSON Matthew Wolford		
a. REPORT	b. ABSTRACT	c. THIS PAGE	U	18	19b. TELEPHONE NUMBER (include area		
I U	I U	I U	1	1			

This page intentionally left blank.

CONTENTS

1.	INTRODUCTION	1
	1.1 Benefit of Short Wavelength (193 Nanometer) Light	1
	1.2 Previous Electron Beam Excimer Laser Development	2
2.	APPROACH	2
	2.1 Fabrication of ArF laser with utilization of existing NRL facilities	2
	2.2 Modeling of electron beam amplifier	3
	2.3 Measurement of laser parameters including laser efficiency, small signal gain, saturation	
	intensity	4
	2.4 Measurement of time dependent species	4
	2.5 Ionization Shock Front Experiment	4
3.	RESEARCH & TECHNICAL ACCOMPLISHMENTS	5
	3.1 World's Most Energetic ArF Laser	5
	3.2 ArF Orestes Code	6
	3.3 Measurements and modeling of laser parameters (g ₀ , I _{SAT})	7
4.	NEXT STEPS	9
5.	CONCLUSIONS	9
RE	FERENCES	9
AC	KNOWLEDGEMENTS	14

This page intentionally left blank.

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

The primary objective of the research conducted is to study the physics of an electron beam pumped argon fluoride (ArF) laser. Generating sufficient laser energy from excimer laser gas medium for potential inertial confinement fusion (ICF) and directed energy applications will require large laser cavities that will need to be pumped by electron beams, rather than by electrical discharges. ArF has a shorter wavelength (193 nm) and higher photon energy than KrF and could enable unique applications. NRL enhanced world leading technology in electron beam pumped high energy excimer lasers with the development of short ArF ultraviolet wavelength which continues to show prospective benefits to research in inertial fusion, mitigating laser plasma instabilities, and as a diagnostic tool. The high quality science discovered in this effort has enabled technology development for the most energetic argon fluoride laser at 200 J with near prospects of generating significant more yield. The physics of greatest consequence include measurements of the small signal gain and saturation intensity with accompanying ArF laser kinetics over a significant pressure and composition range. These and other findings from this program have been documented work in 27 various publications/communications of record including five refereed journal articles, one patent publication/application and two memorandum reports.

This report presents research conducted by Dr. Matthew F. Wolford (Code 6733), Mr. Matthew C. Myers (Code 6733) and Dr. Tzvetelina B. Petrova (Code 6721).



Fig. E1 — The World's most energetic Argon Fluoride Laser at 200 J created due to this Base Research Program. Pictured in the photo are Dr. Wolford and Mr. Myers with the Electra ArF laser facility.

This page intentionally left blank.

FINAL REPORT THE PHYSICS OF HIGH EFFICIENCY ARGON FLUORIDE LASERS

1. INTRODUCTION

The argon fluoride (ArF) research conducted took advantage of a strategic opportunity for NRL, and specifically the Plasma Physics Division. The resultant realization of the ArF research has led to national interest and excitement of ArF (193 nm) laser for potential science advances in inertial confinement fusion (ICF) due to potential very high target gain in addition to the significant reduction of laser plasma instabilities compared to conventional laser drivers [1]. In addition, the research has shown a pathway to high efficiency ArF laser drivers for the eventual realization of inertial fusion energy (IFE) as well. We note the potential benefit of ArF (193 nm) laser driver with inertial confinement (ICF) targets and materials represents 'truly new ground' for low cost smaller inertial fusion power plant.

Generating sufficient laser energy from excimer laser gas medium for potential inertial confinement fusion (ICF) and directed energy applications require large laser cavities that will need to be pumped by electron beams, rather than by electrical discharges. The Plasma Physics Division at NRL has been the world leader technology in electron beam pumped high energy excimer lasers for over more than the last two decades [2-4]. The substantial improvement in excimer wavelength optics due to the development of laser technologies in the lithography industry decades ago has led to an opportunity to develop high energy 193 nm lasers, which previously were thought to be unattainable.

The major intent of this research effort is to make precise detailed measurements of gain, gain to loss ratio, saturation intensity and intrinsic efficiency over a broad parameter regime using an oscillator, reduced aperture amplifier and oscillator- amplifier configuration. Development of an experimental database and accompanying ArF kinetics simulation capability enables the design of high energy ArF systems with confidence. To attain these goals the first step was to conduct basic research in regard to the laser physics for the ArF laser system to attain the important reactions and subsequent laser dynamics that take place. One aspect of basic research is development modeling tools to represent present measurements over dynamic range. Utilizing synergistic parts of experimentation and theoretical analysis predictive capability can be initiated and eventually developed. The ongoing basic research for argon fluoride (ArF) lasers is to enhance and improve has technological developments are realized.

1.1 Benefit of Short Wavelength (193 Nanometer) Light

Fundamentally shorter wavelength has higher photon energy as well as higher frequency due the shorter photon period. The attributes of shorter wavelengths decrease the angles of diffraction compared to longer wavelength light. Therefore smaller focal spots are attained with shorter wavelength relative to longer wavelengths with equivalent diffraction laser beams due to the relative spot size scales with wavelength with a minor correction due to the refractive index of materials, which is constant for most materials. For inertial confinement fusion considerations the short wavelength with equivalent intensity has a higher ablation pressure on the target. In addition, the short wavelength component has a higher threshold for some laser plasma instabilities. Recently, an evaluation of the benefits of short wavelength laser target implosions has been published with more detail on target physics [5,6] then given here.

Manuscript approved February 15, 2023.

1.2 Previous Electron Beam Excimer Laser Development

One of the essential components for a viable inertial fusion power plant is the efficiency of the driver at conditions where substantial target gain can be achieved. For a laser driver there is a clear benefit of having a shorter wavelength, due to the increased coupling to the target and reduction of plasma instabilities. In addition a technique is required to minimize hydrodynamic instabilities and allow scalability to fusion power plant systems. Research on the krypton fluoride (KrF) laser has progressed due to the fact the potential exists of meeting all the requirements for laser fusion [7-10] A pathway exists to an economically viable inertial fusion driver for KrF [11]. The fundamental wavelength of KrF is 248 nm a short ultraviolet wavelength and can be zoomed. As the wavelength becomes shorter increased absorption and increased rocket efficiency occurs resulting in larger kinetic energy to the target [12]. The United States Naval Research Laboratory, Plasma Physics Division, has demonstrated the use of induced spatial incoherence [13,14] with KrF lasers to minimize hydrodynamic instabilities [15]. To achieve the necessary energy for a KrF laser a few electron beam pumped amplifier stages would be used in series where each amplifier stage yields more controllable (pulse shape, spatial focus ability) laser energy than the laser input energy. Electron beam pumped KrF lasers has been examined by a number of institutions [15-22].

Argon fluoride (ArF) is another excimer laser system which can be pumped by electron beams [23-33]. One of the first examples of electron beam pumped ArF laser was from Sandia National Labs (shown in Figure 1), which produced 92 J [32-33]. This was soon after the first report of noble gas halide excimer laser (May 1975) by S.K. Searles and G.A. Hart at the Naval Research Laboratory (NRL) [34]. Argon fluoride lasers have a shorter wavelength than KrF. The short wavelength of 193 nm and may impact the target dynamics in a positive way. The benefits in hydrodynamic efficiency, laser plasma instabilities resulting in larger target gain could be realized as wavelength becomes shorter [35]. Full evaluation of the target physics will be left to an expert in this field [5,6]. One aspect of argon fluoride advancement is the evaluation of operating regimes where the ArF intrinsic efficiency is higher than observed with KrF. If the regime is accessible for large electron beam pumped systems it would 1) reduce the size and cost of the needed pulse power system and 2) increase the attractiveness of the ArF for laser fusion energy. The existing literature from the 1970's and 1980's is not precise or consistent enough to determine where or even if this high efficiency regime indeed exists. Nevertheless there is reason enough to suspect that ArF can have higher intrinsic efficiently than KrF over a broad range. The results that follow demonstrate a regime where the intrinsic efficiency is higher on a small scale and in process of being evaluated for larger scale systems.

2. APPROACH

Our approach was to find the maximum efficiency possible for an ArF electron beam pumped laser. This entailed an integrated approach with theoretical calculations and experiments to characterize the performance of the ArF laser. The technical approach of this proposal were: design, construct, and test an electron beam pumped ArF laser for very high intrinsic efficiency and evaluation for laser fusion driver capabilities; model validation for ArF electron beam pumped lasers to gain a predictive capability on building fusion class laser facilities; measurements of laser parameters including yield, time dependent emission (intensity), small signal gain (g_0), nonsaturable absorption (α), saturation intensity (I_{SAT}), and amplified spontaneous emission (ASE); time-dependent model and experimental comparisons for key species including ArF, Ar₂F, F₂ and electron density.

2.1 Fabrication of ArF laser with utilization of existing NRL facilities

The vast majority of required equipment for construction of ArF electron beam pumped amplifier already existed within Code 6730 and were utilized. There were some key components which were purchased for

this program including optics. The optical materials at 193 nm are expensive for large meter class area. Therefore the focus of this program was on laser efficiency and laser parameters as opposed to total laser yield. The Electra laser facility [36] which has been used in previously in KrF laser development [37-40] as well as other applications [41-43] will be utilized. The Electra facility has detailed studied several components [44-47] to allow confidence in reproducible performance for extensive experimentation.



Fig. 1 — Schematic of argon fluoride (ArF) laser amplifier: Details of a modular, rep-rate, efficient ArF electron beam amplifier. Counter-propagating electron beams, from left and right, are used to create the laser gain medium, center of picture, with a gas recirculator for thermal management at high frequency operation. Picture of actual device in Fig. E1.

2.2 Modeling of electron beam amplifier

The Orestes code was able to correctly model the yield for a similar excimer laser (KrF) [48]. We modified and development a new ArF Orestes code to accurately model and predict the laser yield and other measurable diagnostic quantities for the ArF laser. The first step was to solve the electron Boltzmann equation for the Electron Energy Distribution Function (EEDF) of the ArF laser gas mixture[49], which also had been completed previously for KrF gas mixtures[50,51]. The EEDF determines the electron kinetics which includes electron and ion formation rate, excitation, ionization, attachment, and all other kinetic rates directly related to electrons. Another module of the code beyond the EEDF calculates the plasma chemistry. The plasma chemistry module examines the formation and destruction of molecules and will take into account of all species within the system. The combination of these modules resulted in a validated predictive capability for ArF electron beam pumped lasers.[52,53]



Fig. 2 — Schematic of argon fluoride (ArF) laser amplifier kinetics: Depicting the dominant reactions from both the ion channel and the neutral channel.

2.3 Measurement of laser parameters including laser efficiency, small signal gain, saturation intensity

Pressure, and composition parameter studies were conducted measuring laser yield, laser pulse shape (timedependent intensity), amplified spontaneous emission (ASE), electron beam deposition and consequently laser efficiency [54]. The measurement of the small signal gain, nonsaturable absorption and saturation intensity for the electron beam amplifier were conducted in amplification experiments using an ArF 193 nm discharge laser [54]. To minimize the effects of ASE, polarization was used to discriminate spontaneous emission from the stimulated emission. All of these measurements were directly compared to simulation output.

2.4 Measurements of time dependent species

Linear spectroscopy, emission and absorption were used to measure dynamics of pertinent species in the laser gas including ArF, and F_2 . We intended to conduct more investigations including Ar_2F and other spectroscopic measurements that are observable in the ultraviolet, visible or infrared spectrum. Unfortunately, resources, time and the pandemic outbreak limited are ability to execute these particular goals.

2.5 Ionization Shock Front Experiment

The Ionization Shock Front Experiment was also a victim due to resources, time and the outbreak. Our initial intent of the Ionization Shock Front Experiment is described here. The ArF laser also offers the possibility of an unique laboratory astrophysics experiment to study the transition from a pure ionization wave to a photon driven shock front as forms around young, hot stars. The specific application is the generation of a single ionization shock front utilizing a low threshold ionization atomic gas (i.e., Li, Na, K, Ru, Cs). In addition, the same ArF laser will be used to investigate critical properties for fusion laser drivers, including propagation in various gases to limit transmission losses as well as optic performance evaluation. If the ArF laser efficiency is proven to be high enough it may have directed energy applications in space. There its short wavelength is an advantage towards minimizing beam diffraction and the short wavelength light makes defensive measures more challenging.

3. RESEARCH & TECHNICAL ACCOMPLISHMENTS

Significant progress was achieved through this research effort, which resolved the underlying physics of an electron beam pumped argon fluoride (ArF) laser. The ArF laser propagates in the deep ultraviolet at 193 nm. This program had 3 major technical areas of significant accomplishments, including the design and construction of the world's most energetic ArF laser at 200 J[55], modeling of the electron beam amplifier with the Orestes kinetics code[52,53], measurements and modeling of laser parameters including laser efficiency, small signal gain and saturation intensity [54,56]. Results of the project were transmitted in 26 publications using different types of media as well at various locations throughout the time of the project.

3.1 World's Most Energetic ArF Laser

Design and construction of the world's largest ArF laser at the Electra facility took many iterations. A brief synopsis is provided. In order to construct an ArF large two large (34.7 x 32.7 x 3.8 cm³) fused silica windows were polished for transmission greater than 85% at 193 nm. The remaining losses are from Fresnel reflections from the uncoated surfaces of the fused silica windows and some losses through the thick (3.81 cm) standard grade fused silica material. Higher transmissivity fused silica windows are achievable with greater allocation of resources to fund anti-reflection coatings as well as higher quality optical materials. Funding for the program was basic research so material advancement of optics and optical coatings was not conducted within this program. The windows were installed on a 891 liter gas container which connected to the Electra facilities', two separate pulse power systems in this configuration providing counterpropagating electron beams each of 500 keV, 110 kA and a flat-top pulse width of 100 ns. Initial experimentation of the small signal gain showed the previous Electra cathode which spans over an area 30 x 100 cm² did not create enough laser gain to attain substantial laser yield. Therefore a new cathode was developed for both counter propagating electron beams each having a reduced area to $10 \times 100 \text{ cm}^2$ [54]. New 25 micron stainless steel foils were installed to provide a barrier between the vacuum diode and the 891 liter laser gas mix containing argon and fluorine. Other materials were examined with less success for foil barrier between the laser gas and electron beam diode. The variables modified the most throughout the program for higher were optical configuration as well as gas constituent concentrations and laser gas pressure. Improvements were made in optical aperture to attain higher laser energy. Some of the results in chronological order include 100 J in double pass oscillator experiments with an optical aperture 10.5 x 11 cm² with a total pressure of 0.82 atmospheres with 0.3% Fluorine and balance of argon. The next improvement was a dual parallel oscillator with two 11.9 x 1.9 cm² apertures for a total yield of 137 J [56]. After this increase in laser yield we modified the laser optics to span the entire width of electron beam and made an oscillator with a piece of fused silica for a 8% Fresnel reflection. The 11.9 x 30.0 cm² oscillator yield of 186 Joules. We further increased the yield by again modification of the optical design to close the distance down of the resonator to attain 200 J. Decreasing the resonator distance did two things, one increase the number of roundtrips while the electron beam was on and two reduced the slight absorption at 193 nm due to oxygen. In order to evaluate electron beam pumped ArF amplifier performance a new optical configuration was developed called an oscillator-amplifier configuration. The oscillator-amplifier configuration composed of an oscillator utilizing a portion of the generated ArF gain medium. Utilizing the same optics as described in the previous narrative update in detail, a 11.9 x 11.9 cm² maximum clear aperture ArF oscillator was generated. The oscillator output was reflected from two 45 degree 193 nm high reflectors normal to each other generating a reflected laser beam offset and parallel to the initial oscillator. The parallel ArF laser beam passes back through the laser cell gain medium utilizing a new section of electron beam pumped volume to be amplified as an ArF laser amplifier. The sub aperture, 11.9 x 11.9 cm², laser energy was measured in two locations after the oscillator then again after the amplifier stage. The results for the 8% 193 nm reflective output coupler was 57 J for the oscillator and 95 J for the amplifier. The results for the 16% 193 nm reflective output coupler was 54 J for the oscillator and 126 J for the amplifier. The results for the 23% 193 nm reflective output coupler was 51 J for the oscillator and 100 J for the amplifier. The conditions for all the oscillator-amplifier experiments mentioned above were 0.5% F2/99.5% Ar with a total pressure of 0.884 atmospheres total pressure.

Reduction in Cathode Area increases MW/cm³ Present 10 x 100 cm² ~100 A/cm² Previous 30 x 100 cm² ~33 A/cm²

Figure 3. Modifications to the Electra electron beam laser system to allow higher current density and higher electron beam power deposition per unit volume with a cathode height reduction from 30 cm (below) to 10 cm (above).

Date	Energy (J)	Location			
9/17/2019	137 J	NRL			
11/15/2019	172 J	NRL			
11/19/2019	173 J	NRL			
2/14/2020	186 J	NRL			
3/5/2020	200 J	NRL			

Table 1. NRL ArF Laser Energy Records over 100 J

3.2 ArF Orestes Code

The second significant technical achievement was modeling of the ArF electron beam amplifier with Orestes Code was a multi-step process. The first module of the code, which is to solve the electron Boltzmann equation for the Electron Energy Distribution Function (EEDF), was completed [49]. The EEDF determines the electron kinetics which includes electron and ion formation rates, excitation, ionization, attachment, and all other kinetic rates directly related to electrons. The electron beam energy deposition and collisional reaction rates with electrons were calculated from the electron energy distribution function

for a wide range of e-beam deposition powers ($P_{beam}=10 \text{ kW/cm}^3-3 \text{ MW/cm}^3$) and fluorine concentrations $(xF_2 = 0.01 - 10\%)$. This work resulted into a refereed journal article publication. The plasma chemistry module for the electron beam pumped ArF laser has been developed to examine the formation and destruction of molecules and accounts for all species within the laser gain medium. Estimates of the pertinent molecular, atomic, ion and electron reaction rates have been made with the best literature values known to date. The combination of the EEDF module and the plasma chemistry module give a predictive tool for an electron beam argon fluoride laser. The predictive capability has been developed for the range of conditions of the Electra electron beam pumped ArF laser. This predictive capability has been shown [52,53]. Numerical simulation tools are used to improve basic understanding of the ArF plasma kinetics, which is important for achieving high efficiency lasing. Numerical simulations were done by the Orestes code, which was originally developed for KrF lasers, and modified for ArF laser development on Electra e-beam facility. The lasing media has complex geometry with mirrors, windows and walls from different materials, that are taken into account for transmission and reflectivity in the laser propagation equation. These data are experimentally determined and used in Orestes as input parameters. Lasing is modeled by laser propagation equation, numerically solved together with the species balance equations. We performed detailed studies of the upper laser population and determined the most important gain and loss reactions, as well as absorption calculation analyses that are based on time-dependent 1D rate equations solutions. In order to perform these analyses, a series of codes have been developed to extract and plot data from Orestes. This enabled parametric studies of laser properties as a function of e-beam power, gas pressure and gas composition. Radiation transport module in Orestes accounts for spontaneous radiative decay and stimulated emission. A number of kinetics models have been explored in order to understand the sensitivity of plasma absorption and excited species generation. It was found, that the stepwise ionization of argon is one of the dominant processes affecting the gain calculations because the main absorber of laser radiation are the excited argon atoms, Ar(4p). A number of auxiliary codes have been developed to study different reaction rates as a function of the electron temperature. The non-equilibrium plasma kinetics also require accounting of the gas heating during the e-beam pulse.



Figure 4. Pictorial representation of the ArF Orestes code development, which was a significant component of this project.

3.3 Measurements and Modeling of Laser Parameters (g₀, I_{SAT})

The third significant technical measurements and modeling of laser parameters including laser efficiency, small signal gain (g_0), and saturation intensity (I_{SAT}). Small signal gain measurements for the electron beam

pumped ArF laser have been attained over a range of pressures (12 psi - 20 psi) utilizing argon and fluorine gas. A 12 ns laser pulse from a commercial discharge laser was used as seed laser. By varying the input intensity of the seed laser using neutral density filters over a limited aperture of the electron beam pumped volume 30 x 30 x 100 cm³ determination of the small signal gain could be determined. The measurements were made in both single pass mode, a single pass of the 1 meter long gain medium, as well as double pass mode, a passing the initial laser seed back and forth across the media to get larger output signals. The laser intensity was measured with calibrated photodiodes with known, and measured, 193 nm transmission interference and neutral density filters. The energy deposition into the gas from the electron beam was measured by a pressure transducer for all of the 100's of laser shots to determine the small signal gain. The energy deposition then was used to estimate the power deposition using the current and voltage pulse from the electron beam with a finite voltage cut-off due to the propagation of the electron beam through a 25 micron stainless steel foil. A modified Rigrod analysis was used to evaluate the small signal gain. The resultant small signal gain measurements are from single pass measurements 1.84%/cm at 12 psi with a power deposition of 0.395 MW/cc, 1.77%/cm at 16 psi with a power deposition of 0.497 kW/cc, and 1.29% at 20 psi with a power deposition of 0.583 MW/cc. All of these conditions had ~99.7% Ar and 0.3% F₂. An important note is that the ArF electron beam modeling code had a predictive result of $\sim 1.8\%$ /cm in this electron beam deposition range. In addition, we made double pass gain measurements to attempt to determine the saturation intensity. The results from the single pass gain measurements were not reaching the high enough intensities to determine the saturation intensity. At these low gains a double pass measurement were closer in creating enough intensity, but did not have sufficient gain to get to high enough intensities to accurately determine saturation intensity. We determine the small signal gain using the modified Rigrod analysis similar to single pass gain and discounting the transmission through the rear window twice, reflectivity of mirrors at 193 nm, and losses in short path of air. The small signal gain measurements for the double pass measurements are 1.37%/cm at 12 psi with a power deposition of 0.395 MW/cc and 1.10% at 20 psi with a power deposition of 0.583 MW/cc. The analysis gives a lower result due to assumptions that the optical transport was 100% from exiting the amplifier and being put back in the amplifier in the double pass, which we know is inaccurate. Further refinement of the modified Rigrod will be complete to analyze the raw data to determine the actual small signal gain measurements. The double pass configuration was also more challenging due to lower input intensity levels competed with amplified spontaneous emission (ASE) which lowered the measured gain. Therefore in order to evaluate the potential of electron beam pumped ArF lasers modification to increase the electron beam power deposition. The 30 x 100 cm² cathodes were replaced with 10 x 100 cm² cathodes. The modification included designing and fabricating new cathodes as well as modification of the anode and cathode spacing to maintain a nominal 500 keV with increased current density. After installation of the new cathodes with reduced height double pass signal gain measurements were made at 12 psi with ~99.7% Ar and 0.3% F₂. The small signal gain was significantly larger at 3.21%/cm (even with the lower performance double pass measurements as explained above) with an estimate power deposition of 1.09 MW/cc. The small signal gain measurements are consistent with the electron beam pumped ArF laser modeling predictions made earlier in the year. These experimental results were shown [54]. The saturated intensity from the double pass with higher gain could be estimated and suggest that the intrinsic efficiency is higher than KrF lasers. Further measurements show that ArF laser intrinsic efficiency (laser energy out/electron beam energy deposited for the flat-top region of the electron beam) is consistent with previous literature measurements of 17-18% [24,26,54]. This substantially higher intrinsic efficiency suggests the possible wall-plug efficiency for a full scale large electron beam pumped ArF laser could be 10% using the same evaluate techniques to determine the KrF wall plug efficiency is 7% [55].



Figure 5. Measured small signal gain from the Electra facility using two different cathodes (10 cm, higher electron beam power and 30 cm, lower electron beam power). Comparison of the ArF Orestes code (solid line) with the Electra results as well as reults from Lee *et al.* [26].

4. NEXT STEPS

The next steps are to develop a pulse power system optimized for an ArF laser as opposed to KrF laser. This system would have a lower voltage to better match the lower stopping power of the ArF laser gas mixture. Development of an electron beam deposition model with varying magnetic field would aid in designs of the laser cell. In addition, the laser cell be elongated in the electron beam propagation direction to efficiently used all the electron beam deposition power. The current density would be higher above 1MW/cc to get substantial gain per centimeter for amplifier performance unless close to saturation intensity. Higher transmission windows as well as an antireflection coating would substantially improve performance. The volume around the amplifier would be able to remove oxygen to avoid absorption losses at 193 nm. For repetition-rate performance the ArF laser has similar technologies as KrF. The advancement of solid state switches for lifetime and the ability to use superconducting magnets for wall plug efficiency. One aspect is unclear whether lower density with higher velocity in gas flow improves or decreases effectiveness of convection foil cooling. Front end technologies for excimer laser need to be confirmed for ArF. The most important next step is getting sufficient funding for advancements of inertial fusion energy drivers.

5. CONCLUSIONS

The argon fluoride (ArF) laser has made substantial progress with modest investment. The resultant work has created the world's largest ArF laser at 200 Joules, and a modeling development which shows large fusion scale amplifiers would be substantially more efficient than KrF. The future is bright for ArF research taking off due to recent developments. The ArF laser has the greatest potential as a fusion driver for high gain from inertial confinement fusion (ICF) and inertial fusion energy (IFE). The excimer wall plug efficiency of ArF is 10%, which is substantially higher than KrF (7%). The qualities of ArF makes it not only the best laser driver, but most likely the best of known drivers for IFE applications.

REFERENCES

1. A. Zylstra, N. Alexander, R. Bahukutumbi, R. McBride, W. Meier, P. Seidl, M. Wolford, L. Yin, "IFE Science & Technology Strategic Planning Workshop Report," IFE Science & Technology Community Strategic Planning Workshop, <u>https://lasers.llnl.gov/nif-workshops/ife-workshop-2022</u> May 2022.

- J.D. Sethian, M. Friedman, J.L. Giuliani Jr., R.H. Lehmberg, S.P. Obenschain, P. Kepple, M. Wolford, F. Hegeler, S.B. Swanekamp, D. Weidenheimer, D. Welch, D.V. Rose, S. Searles, 2003, "Electron beam pumped KrF lasers for fusion energy," Physics of Plasmas 10(5), 2142-2146. doi: 10.1063/1.1564082.
- M.F. Wolford, M.C. Myers, J.L. Giuliani, J.D. Sethian, P.M. Burns, F. Hegeler, R. Jaynes, 2008, "Repetition-rate angularly multiplexed krypton fluoride laser system," Optical Engineering 47 (10), 104202. doi:10.1117/1.3000593.
- S. Obenschain, R. Lehmberg, D. Kehne, F. Hegeler, M. Wolford, J. Sethian, J. Weaver, M. Karasik, 2015, "High-energy krypton fluoride lasers for inertial fusion," Applied Optics 54(31), F103-F122. doi: 10.1364/AO.54.00F103.
- A.J. Schmitt, S.P. Obenschain, 2023 "The importance of laser wavelength for driving inertial confinement fusion targets. I. Basic Physics," Physics of Plasmas 30, 012701. doi: 10.1063/5.0118080.
- A.J. Schmitt, S.P. Obenschain, 2023 "The importance of laser wavelength for driving inertial confinement fusion targets. II. Target Design," Physics of Plasmas 30, 012702. doi: 10.1063/5.0118093.
- 7. J.A. Sullivan and C.W. von Rosenberg, 1986, "High energy krypton fluoride amplifiers for laserinduced fusion," Laser and Particle Beams 4(1), 91-105. doi: 10.1017/S0263034600001658.
- 8. R.J. Jensen, 1987, "KrF for Fusion: An Overview of Laser Issues," Fusion Technology 11, 481-485. doi: 10.13182/FST87-A25029.
- I.N. Sviatoslavsky, M.E. Sawan, R.R. Peterson, G.L. Kulcinski, J.J. MacFarlane, L.J. Wittenberg, H.Y. Khater, E.A. Mogahed, S.C. Rutledge, S. Ghose, R. Bourque, 1992, "A KrF Laser Driven Inertial Fusion Reactor "SOMBRERO"," Fusion Technology 21(3P2A), 1470-1474. doi: 10.13182/FST92-A29928.
- J.D. Sethian, M. Friedman, R.H. Lehmberg, M. Myers, S.P. Obenschain, J. Giuliani, P. Kepple, A.J. Schmitt, D. Colombant, J. Gardner, F. Hegeler, M. Wolford, S.B. Swanekamp, D. Weidenheimer, D. Welch, D. Rose, S. Payne, C. Bibeau, A. Bayramian, R. Beach, K. Schaffers, B. Freitas, K. Skulina, W. Meier, J. Latkowski, L.J. Perkins, D. Goodin, R. Petzoldt, E. Stephens, F. Najmabadi, M. Tillack, R.Raffray, Z. Dragojlovic, D. Haynes, R. Peterson, G. Kulcinski, J. Hoffer, D. Geller, D. Schroen, J. Streit, C. Olson, T. Tanaka, T. Renk, G. Rochau, L. Snead, N. Ghoneim, and G. Lucas, 2003, "Fusion energy with lasers, direct drive targets, and dry wall chambers," Nuclear Fusion 43(12), 1693-1709. doi: 10.1088/0029-5515/43/12/015.
- W.R. Meier, C.W. von Rosenberg, 1992, "Economic Modeling and Parametric Studies for SOMBRERO – A Laser-Driven IFE Power Plant," Fusion Technology 21(3P2A), 1552-1556. doi: 10.13182/FST92-A29941. doi: 10.13182/FST92-A29941.
- 12. S.E. Bodner, D.G. Colombant, A.J. Schmitt, M. Klapisch, 2000, "High-gain direct-drive target design for laser fusion," Physics of Plasmas 7, 2298-2301. doi: 10.1063/1.874063.

- R.H. Lehmberg, J. Goldhar, 1987, "Use of Incoherence to Produce Smooth and Controllable Irradiation Profiles with KrF Fusion Lasers," Fusion Technology 11, 532-541. doi: 10.13182/FST87-A25033.
- 14. R.H. Lehmberg, A.J. Schmitt, S.E. Bodner, 1987, "Theory of induced spatial incoherence," Journal of Applied Physics 62, 2680-2701. doi: 10.1063/1.339419.
- S.P. Obenschain, S.E. Bodner, D. Colombant, K. Gerber, R.H. Lehmberg, E.A. McLean, A.N. Mostovych, M.S. Pronko, C.J. Pawley, A.J. Schmitt, J.D. Sethian, V. Serlin, J.A. Stamper, C.A. Sullivan, J.P. Dahlburg, J.H. Gardner, Y. Chan, A.V. Deniz, J. Hardgrove, T. Lehecka, M. Klapisch, 1996, "The Nike KrF laser facility: Performance and initial target experiments," Physics of Plasmas 3, 2098-2107. doi: 10.1063/1.871661.
- 16. J.H. Parks, 1981, "Angular Multiplex Laser Fusion Drivers," Proceedings of SPIE 0270, High Power Lasers and Applications, 81-92. doi: 10.1117/12.931739.
- 17. C.B. Edwards, F. O'Neill, M.J. Shaw, 1981, "Absorption and gain measurements in the KrF laser medium at high pump rate," Applied Physics Letters 38, 843-845. doi: 10.1063/1.92213
- A. Mandl, D. Klimek, J.H. Parks, 1980, "KrF laser kinetics studies," Journal of Applied Physics 55, 3940-3949. doi: 10.1063/1.332980.
- A. Suda, H. Kumagi, M. Obara, 1987, "Characteristics of an electron beam pumped KrF laser amplifier with an atmospheric-pressure Kr-rich mixture in a strongly saturated region," Applied Physics Letters 51, 218-220. doi: 10.1063/1.98480.
- I. Okuda, E. Takahashi, I. Matsushima, Y. Matsumoto, H. Yashiro, E. Miura, T. Tomie, and Y. Owadano, 1999, "Performance of 'Super-ASHURA' main amplifier," Fusion Engineering and Design, 44, 377-381. doi: 10.1016/S0920-3796(98)00349-4.
- L.A. Rosocha, J.A. Hanlon, J. McLeod, M. Kang, B.L. Kortegaard, M.D. Burrows, P.S. Bowling, 1987, "Aurora Multikilojoule KrF Laser System Prototype for Inertial Confinement Fusion," Fusion Technology 11(3), 497-531. doi: 10.13182/FST87-A25032.
- V.D. Zvorykin, S.V. Arlantsev, V.G. Bakaev, O.V. Rantsev, P.B. Sergeev, G.V. Sychugov, A.Yu. Tserkovnikov, 2001, "Transport of electron beams and stability of optical windows in high-power ebeam-pumped krypton fluoride lasers," Laser and Particle Beams 19, 609-622. doi: 10.1017.S0263034601194085.
- A. Suda, H. Kumagi, S. Izawa, M. Obara, 1986, "Comparative study of low-pressure rare-gas fluoride/chloride lasers excited by a short pulse electron beam," Journal of Applied Physics 64, 1720-1725. doi: 10.1063/1.341766.
- Y-W. Lee, E. Matsui, F. Kannari, M.Obara, 1989, "Theoretical High Efficiency Extraction Study of a Short-Pulse Electron-Beam-Pumped ArF Laser Amplifier with Atmospheric Pressure Ar-rich Mixtures," IEEE Transactions on Electron Devices 36, 2053-2066. doi: 10.1109/3.35232.
- 25. J.W. Glessner, M.J. McAuliffe, B.D. Smith, K.B. Floyd, 1991, "Lasing of ArF with a microsecond electron beam," Journal of Applied Physics 70, 4694-4696. doi: 10.1063/1.349061.

- 26. Y-W. Lee, H. Kumagi, S-I. Ashidata, M. Obara, 1988, "High efficiency extraction study of an electron beam pumped ArF laser amplifier with an atmospheric-pressure Ar-rich mixture," Applied Physics Letters 52, 1294-1296. doi: 10.1063/1.99142.
- 27. A. Mandl, 1986, "ArF short-pulse extraction studies," Journal of Applied Physics 59, 1435-1445. doi: 10.1063/1.336495.
- P.J.M. Peters, I.H.T. Fickers, W.J. Witteman, 1987, "Effect of Ne and Ar on the performance of a high-pressure ArF* laser pumped by a small coaxial electron beam," Applied Physics Letters 51, 883-885. doi: 10.1063/1.98843.
- 29. C.B. Edwards, F. O'Neill, M.J. Shaw, 1980, "60-ns e-beam excitation of rare-gas halide lasers," Applied Physics Letters 36, 617-620. doi: 10.1063/1.91627.
- 30. A.D. Klementov, N.V. Morozov, and P.B. Sergeev, 1986, "Electron-beam excited ArF laser," Soviet Journal of Quantum Electronics 16(8), 1139-1142. doi: 10.1070/QE1986v016n08ABEH007360.
- 31. A. Suda, M. Obara, A. Noguchi, 1986, "Performance characteristics of the ArF excimer laser using a low-pressure argon-rich mixture," Journal of Applied Physics 60, 3791-3793. doi: 10.1063/1.337547.
- 32. J.M. Hoffman, A.K. Hays, and G.C. Tisone, 1976, "High-Power UV noble-gas-halide lasers," Applied Physics Letters 28, 538-539. doi: 10.1063/1.88813
- 33. C. Webb, 2010, "History of Gas Lasers Part 2 Pulsed Gas Lasers," Optics and Photonics News 21(2), 20-27. doi: 10.1364/OPN.21.2.000020.
- 34. S.K. Searles, G.A. Hart, 1975, "Stimulated emission at 281.8 nm from XeBr," Applied Physics Letters 27, 243-245. doi: 10.1063/1.88409.
- 35. S. Atzeni, J. Meyer-ter-Vehn *The Physics of Inertial Fusion Beam Plasma Interaction, Hydrodynamics, Hot Dense Matter* (Clarendon. Oxford 2004).
- 36. J.D. Sethian, M.C. Myers, J.L. Giuliani, R.H. Lehmberg, P.C. Kepple, S.P. Obenschain, F. Hegeler, M. Friedman, M.F. Wolford, R.V. Smilgys, S.B. Swanekamp, D. Weidenheimer, D. Giorgi, D. R. Welch, D.V. Rose, S. Searles, 2004, "Electron beam pumped krypton fluoride lasers for fusion energy," Proceedings of the IEEE 92(7), 1043-1056. doi: 10.1109/JPROC.2004.829051.
- M.F. Wolford, F. Hegeler, M.C. Myers, J.L. Giuliani, J.D. Sethian, 2004, "Electra: Repetitively pulsed 500 J, 100 ns, KrF oscillator," Applied Physics Letters 84(3), 326-328. doi: 10.1063/1.1641513.
- F. Hegeler, D.V. Rose, M.C. Myers, J.D. Sethian, J.L. Giuliani, M.F. Wolford, M. Friedman, 2004, "Efficient electron beam deposition in the gas cell of Electra laser," Physics of Plasmas 11(11), 5010-5021. doi: 10.1063/1.1795196.
- M.C. Myers, J.D. Sethian, J.L. Giuliani, R. Lehmberg, P. Kepple, M.F. Wolford, F. Hegeler, M. Friedman, T.C. Jones, S.B. Swanekamp, D. Weidenheimer, D. Rose, 2004, "Repetitively pulsed, high energy KrF lasers for inertial fusion energy," Nuclear Fusion 44(12), S247-S253. doi: 10.1088/0029-5515/44/12/S16.

- 40. P.M. Burns, M. Myers, J.D. Sethian, M.F. Wolford, J.L. Giuliani, S.P. Obenschain, R.H. Lehmberg, S. Searles, M. Friedman, F. Hegeler, R. Jaynes, R.V. Smilgys, 2007, "Development of a continuous multi-thousand shot electron beam pumped KrF rep-rate laser for fusion energy," Fusion Science and Technology 52(3), 445-453. doi: 10.13182/FST07-A1528.
- 41. J.P. Apruzese, J.L. Giuliani, M.F. Wolford, J.D. Sethian, G.M. Petrov, D.D. Hinshelwood, M.C. Myers, A. Dasgupta, F. Hegeler, Ts. Petrova, 2008, "Optimizing the Ar-Xe infrared laser on the Naval Research Laboratory's Electra generator," Journal of Applied Physics 104(1) 013101. doi: 10.1063/1.2948934.
- 42. M.F. Wolford, M.C. Myers, F. Hegeler, J.D. Sethian, 2013, "NO_x removal with multiple pulsed electron free of catalysts or reagents," Physical Chemistry Chemical Physics 15(12) 4422-4427. doi: 10.1039/c3cp50436k.
- 43. G.M. Petrov, J.P. Apruzese, Tz.B. Petrova, M.F. Wolford. 2016, "Investigation of industrial-scale carbon dioxide reduction using pulsed electron beams," Journal of Applied Physics 119(10) 103303. doi: 10.1063/1.4943620.
- 44. M. Friedman, M. Myers, F. Hegeler, S.B. Swanekamp, M.F. Wolford, J.D. Sethian, L. Ludeking, 2004, "Emission of an intense large area electron beam from a slab of porous dielectric," Journal of Applied Physics 96(12) 7714-7722. doi: 10.1063/1.1815050.
- 45. F. Hegeler, J.L. Giuliani Jr., J.D. Sethian, M.C. Myers, M.F. Wolford, P.M. Burns, M. Friedman, 2008, "Forced convective cooling of foils in a repetitively pulsed electron-beam diode," IEEE Transactions on Plasma Science 36(3P2) 778-793. doi: 10.1109/TPS.2008.922919.
- 46. F. Hegeler, M. Myers, M.F. Wolford, J.D. Sethian, A.M. Fielding, 2013, "Low jitter, high voltage, repetitive laser triggered gas switches," IEEE Transactions on Dielectrics and Electrical Insulation 20(4) 1168-1188. doi: 10.1109/TDEI.2013.6571432.
- M.F. Wolford, M.C. Myers, F. Hegeler, J.D. Sethian, 2016, "Dynamics of laser triggered, gasinsulated spark gaps during repetitive operation," IEEE Transactions on Plasma Science 44(10) 2410-2423. doi: 10.1109/TPS.2016.2606249.
- 48. J.L. Giuliani, P.Kepple, R.H. Lehmberg, M.C. Myers, J.D. Sethian, M.F. Wolford, F. Hegeler, G. Petrov, 2003, "Orestes: a kinetics model for electron beam pumped KrF lasers," in 3rd International Conference on Inertial Fusion Sciences and Applications, Monterey, California, 580-583.
- G.M. Petrov, M.F. Wolford, Tz.B. Petrova, J.L. Giuliani, S.P. Obenschain, 2017, "Production of radical species by an electron beam deposition in an ArF* lasing medium," Journal of Applied Physics, 122, 133301. doi: 10.1063/1.4995224.
- 50. G.M. Petrov, J.L. Giuliani, A. Dasgupta, 2002, "Electron energy deposition in an electron-beam pumped KrF amplifier: impact of beam power and energy," Journal of Applied Physics 91, 2662-2677. doi: 10.1063/1.1448409.
- J.L. Giuliani, G.M. Petrov, A. Dasgupta, 2002, Electron energy deposition in an electron-beam pumped KrF amplifier: impact of the gas deposition," Journal of Applied Physics 92, 1200-1206. doi: 10.1063/1.1491592.

- 52. Tz. Petrova, J. Giuliani, A. Dasgupta, M. Wolford, M. Myers, A. Schmitt, S. Obenschain, G. Petrov, M. McGeoch, 2022, "Plasma kinetics of the NRL high efficiency electron-beam-pumped argon fluoride laser," NRL Memorandum NRL/6720/MR—2022/1.
- 53. Tz. Petrova, M. Wolford, M. Myers, S. Obenschain, "Modeling of the NRL Electra electron-beam pumped argon fluoride laser," Submitted to IEEE Transactions on Plasma Science.
- M.C. Myers, M.F. Wolford, A.J. Schmitt, Tz. B. Petrova, G.M. Petrov, J.L. Giuliani, M. McGeoch, S.P. Obenschain, 2019, "Development of an electron-beam pumped, argon fluoride laser for inertial confinement fusion," 2019 IEEE Pulsed Power & Plasma Science (PPPS), Orlando, FL, USA 1-4. doi: 10.1109/PPPS34859.2019.9009786.
- 55. S.P. Obenschain, A.J. Schmitt, J.W. Bates, M.F. Wolford, M.C. Myers, M.W. McGeoch, M. Karasik, J.L. Weaver, 2020, "Direct drive with the argon fluoride laser as a path to high fusion gain with sub-megajoule laser energy," Philosophical Transactions of the Royal Society A: Mathematical, Physical and Engineering Sciences 378(2184) 2020031. doi: 10.1098/rsta.2020.0031.
- 56. M.F. Wolford, M.C. Myers, Tz. B. Petrova, J.L. Giuliani, T.J. Kessler, M.W. McGeoch, G.M. Petrov, A.J. Schmitt, T.A. Mehlhorn, S.P. Obenschain, 2020, Development of a broad bandwidth 193 nanometer laser driver for inertial confinement fusion," High Energy Density Physics 36 100801. doi: 10.1016/j.hedp.2020.100801.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

We would like to thank the technical support from Laodice Granger and Areg Mangassarian. We would also like to thank constructive discussion from Dr. Stephen Obenschain and Dr. Arati Dasgupta throughout the ArF research project. We would also like to thank Dr. Lop-Yung Chan for assistance with interference filters and examining electron beam deposition with spectroscopy of infrared argon lines.